IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

)

)

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,)

Plaintiff and Respondent,)

v.

DONTRAE GRAY,

No. S269237

Court of Appeal No. B302236

Los Angeles No. MA065662

Defendant and Appellant.)

On Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California in and for the County of Los Angeles

> The Honorable Sam Ohta Judge Presiding

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

William J. Capriola Attorney at Law Post Office Box 1536 Sebastopol, California 95473 (707) 829-9490 huckle@sonic.net State Bar No. 135889

Counsel for Appellant by Appointment of the Supreme Court.

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON REVIEW

Did the trial court violate the due process right to confrontation applicable at probation and parole revocation hearings by admitting hearsay statements in a bodycam video under the excited utterance exception (Evid. Code, § 1240) without first making a finding of good cause and determining whether a balancing of the relevant factors under *People v. Arreola* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1144 favored admission?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 8, 2015, appellant entered a plea of no contest to a single count of assault with a deadly weapon (Pen. Code, § 245, subd. (a)(1)), and admitted personally inflicted great bodily injury in the commission of the offense (Pen. Code, § 12022.7, subd. (a)). The trial court imposed a seven-year state prison term, suspended execution of the sentence, and placed appellant on formal probation for five years, the conditions of which included compliance with all laws. (1 Clerk's Transcript [CT] 84-87; 2 Reporter's Transcript [RT] A1-A9.)

On March 30, 2019, appellant was arrested in connection with an alleged incident of domestic violence. Based on that arrest, the prosecution charged appellant with violating probation in the 2015 case, and also filed a new case against appellant charging him with inflicting corporal injury upon an intimate partner (Pen. Code, § 273.5, subd. (a)) and residential burglary (Pen. Code, § 459). (See 2 CT 172-190, 246-247, 250-252.)

On October 1, 2019, at the request of the People, the new case was dismissed. (2 CT 272; 2 RT 605-606, 611-613.)

On October 30, 2019, following a contested hearing in the probation revocation matter, the trial court found appellant in violation of his probation and imposed the previously suspended sentence of seven years in state prison. (2 CT 291-294; 2 RT 2117-2220.)

Appellant timely appealed. (2 CT 296.)

In a published opinion filed April 30, 2021, the Court of Appeal for the Second Appellate District, Division Two affirmed the judgment. (*People v. Gray* (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 947.)

On July 14, 2021, this Court granted appellant's petition for review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following evidence was presented at appellant's October 30, 2019 probation revocation hearing:

A. NON-BODY CAMERA FOOTAGE EVIDENCE.

At approximately 8:00 a.m. on March 30, 2019, the police received a 911 call from a woman, later identified as Natosha, who could be heard trying to persuade a person named "Joe-Joe" from "trying to break" and "kick" in the door of a residence on 11th Avenue. (2 CT 282; 2 RT 1817.)

A Los Angeles Police Department gang officer testified that appellant's gang moniker was "Jo-Jo." (2 RT 1803-1806.)

Officer Manuel Madueno and his partner, Officer Grube, arrived at the residence – an apartment in a multi-unit complex – approximately four minutes after the 911 call was placed. (2 RT 1815, 1817, 1821-1822.) Officer Madueno had been to the same residence the day before due to a reported argument. (2 RT 1815, 1825-1827.) On that prior occasion, Officer Madueno had a very brief conversation with a woman named Natosha. Based on what Natosha told him, Officer Madueno determined there was no crime involved and left. (2 RT 1816, 1827.)

Two other officers, Pellyk and Tavera, were also at the scene on March 30, 2019. (2 RT 1817-1818.) They went to the rear of the residence and detained appellant there. (2 RT 1818, 1824-1825, 1837.)

Officer Madueno and his partner went to the front of the residence. (2 RT 1818, 1822.) Some of the wood on the doorjamb had been broken off and the door itself was damaged. (2 RT 1831-1833.) After appellant had already been taken into custody by the other officers (see 2 RT 317-318, 1824-1825, 1828; 2 CT 178), Officer Madueno entered the residence and spoke to Natosha in the living room, which was "pretty trashed." (2 RT 1815-1816, 1828-1829.) An older disabled woman whom Natosha took care of was also present at the time, although the woman did not say or do anything while Madueno was there. (2 RT 1829-1830.) Natosha was breathing heavily, appeared frightened, and had suffered injuries, including bruises on her arm, back, and shoulder, and a small scratch on her cheek. (2 RT 1833-1836, 1842.) She did not seek medical attention for her injuries. (2 RT 1844.)

B. THE BODY CAMERA VIDEO.

Natosha did not testify at the probation revocation hearing. Rather, over defense objection, the prosecution presented body camera footage of her conversation with Officer Madueno the morning of the incident.

During the recorded conversation, Natosha stated that she and appellant had dated for about two months. (2 CT 286.) Natosha indicated that she had called the police twice the day before: once in the daytime and once at night. Officer Madueno responded to the first call. (2 CT 287.) Natosha called again at about 7:00 p.m. because appellant was at her residence with another girl and was refusing to leave. The police came and told appellant to go. (2 CT 287-288.) Appellant and his mother apparently came back later that night for his belongings. Natosha gave the belongings to appellant's mother, then went to sleep. (2 CT 288.)

In the morning, Natosha checked her phone and saw that appellant had been calling her. (2 CT 288.) Meanwhile, the disabled woman Natosha took care of had fallen out of bed. As Natosha was in the bedroom trying to assist the woman, she heard appellant at the back door telling her to open the door: "he's all bitch open the door and this stuff and I'm like you know I'm trying to get [the disabled woman]." (*Ibid*.) Natosha went to the back door and told appellant that he was "always hitting [her] and everything else" and that she was not going to open the door. (*Ibid*.)

Appellant went around to the front of the residence, opened the metal screen door with a key he had stolen, then kicked in the main door. (2 CT 288; 2 RT 1843.) Natosha tried holding a chair against the door but was unable to keep appellant out. (2 CT 289.) Appellant entered the apartment and started "punching [Natosha] everywhere" and "stomping [her] out." (2 CT 288.) Appellant punched her about 20 times, mainly on her arms. (2 CT 289-290.) She fell down but did not lose consciousness. (2 CT 290.)

C. RECANTATION EVIDENCE.

Natasha later recanted in part.

About three days after the incident, Natosha told a detective that when she told the police appellant had hit her, she was "mad" and wanted him "out of her house." (2 RT 2103-2104.) She also told the detective that the source of her injuries was a fall she took when she fell backwards after appellant kicked the door open. (2 RT 2104.)

About 12 days after the incident, Natosha told the prosecutor that she was "lying about some things." $(2 \text{ RT } 2105.)^1$

¹ The opinion of the Court of Appeal mistakenly indicates that Natosha made this statement "[n]early a year later" (*People v. Gray, supra*, 63 Cal.App.5th at p. 950), when in fact it was stipulated that the prosecutor notified defense counsel of his conversation with Natosha in an email dated April 11, 2019 – less than two weeks after the March 30, 2019 incident at the apartment. (2 RT 2105.) A related misstatement in the Court of Appeal's opinion is that the incident itself occurred on "March 30, 2018." (*People v. Gray, supra*, at p. 950.)

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN HOLDING THAT A HEARSAY STATEMENT THAT QUALIFIES FOR ADMISSION AS AN EXCITED UTTERANCE UNDER EVIDENCE CODE SECTION 1240, AUTOMATICALLY SATISFIES A DEFENDANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT OF CONFRONTATION AND IS ADMISSIBLE AT A PROBATION REVOCATION PROCEEDING WITHOUT THE NEED FOR ANY SHOWING OF GOOD CAUSE OR ANY BALANCING OF INTERESTS UNDER *ARREOLA*.

As the Court's framing of the question suggests, the gravamen of the dispute in this case is whether the reasoning of the Court of Appeal in the present case, and the earlier case of *People v. Stanphill* (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 61, which adopted a rule of per se constitutionality for excited utterances, justifies departure from the principles set out by this Court in *People v. Arreola, supra*, 7 Cal.4th 1144. As will be seen, neither *Stanphill* nor the present case offer any substantial authority nor persuasive reasoning for dispensing with the right of confrontation at a probation revocation hearing without a showing of good cause for the hearsay declarant's absence and a case-by-case balancing of interests as required under *Arreola*.

A. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND.

Appellant's trial attorney asserted both "*Crawford*"² and due process objections to the admission of Officer Madueno's body camera footage, which captured Natasha making statements about the March 30, 2019 incident and the events leading up to it. The trial court overruled both objections and admitted most of the statements. (2 RT 1813-1814, 1820-1823, 2102-2103, 2105-2117.)

With respect to the *Crawford* objection, the trial court determined that the Confrontation Clause does not apply in probation revocation proceedings. (2 RT 903, 1820.)³

In analyzing defense counsel's due process objection, the trial court relied on *People v. Stanphill, supra*, 170 Cal.App.4th 61, which held that spontaneous statements under Evidence Code section 1240 are a "special breed of hearsay exception which automatically satisfy a probationer's due process confrontation/cross-examination rights" (*Id.* at p. 81; see 2 RT 2117.) The trial court determined that a good portion of the body camera footage – beginning with Natosha ("NS") saying "I'm just getting a hot towel" (2 CT 286), until the end of the video clip – was admissible under Evidence Code section 1240, and that admitting these spontaneous statements did not run afoul of "due process concerns." (2 RT 2105-2107, 2110-2111, 2117; 2 CT 286-290.)

² Crawford v. Washington (2004) 541 U.S. 36.

³ The propriety of this ruling is undisputed. (See, e.g., *People v. Abrams* (2007) 158 Cal.App.4th 396, 400, fn. 1 ["*Crawford* is founded on the Sixth Amendment and does not apply to probation violation hearings."].)

On appeal, the Court of Appeal affirmed, concluding that the body camera video containing Natasha's statement was properly admitted. The Court of Appeal found that although the prosecution had failed to establish good cause for not securing Natasha's presence at the revocation hearing, the applicability of a firmly rooted hearsay exception is per se sufficient to satisfy due process, and that because Natasha's statement fell within the firmly rooted hearsay exception for excited utterances, due process was satisfied. (*People v. Gray, supra*, 63 Cal.App.5th at pp. 949, 951, 953-957.)

B. WINSON, MAKI, AND ARREOLA.

To satisfy the federal Constitution, *Morrissey v. Brewer* (1972) 408 U.S. 471, 489 and *Gagnon v. Scarpelli* (1973) 411 U.S. 778, 786, generally require that a defendant at a parole or probation revocation hearing be provided with "the right 'to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses (unless the hearing officer specifically finds good cause for not allowing confrontation)" (*People v. Arreola* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1144, 1158; see also *Black v. Romano* (1985) 471 U.S. 606, 612.)⁴ This right arises from the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, rather than from the Sixth Amendment, because a revocation proceeding is not a criminal proceeding. (*People v. Johnson* (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 1409, 1411.)

In *People v. Winson* (1981) 29 Cal.3d 711, this Court concluded that "[a] preliminary hearing transcript of a witness' testimony in a defendant's related criminal case is not a proper substitute for live testimony of the

⁴ Parole and probation revocation proceedings are equivalent in terms of the requirements of due process. (*Gagnon v. Scarpelli, supra*, 411 U.S. at p. 782 & fn. 3; *People v. Vickers* (1972) 8 Cal.3d 451, 458.)

witness at defendant's probation revocation hearing in the absence of the declarant's unavailability or other good cause." (Id. at pp. 713-714.) The Court stated: "Our conclusion that a finding of good cause is required before the preliminary hearing transcript may be used at a revocation hearing is thus compelled by the high court's precise enunciation of minimum due process requirements in such proceedings. It also is compelled by the emphasis of the Supreme Court on the equal value of cross-examination and the opportunity for observation of the witness' demeanor." (Id. at p. 717.) Winson, however, further noted that "within this context the right of confrontation is not absolute. Confrontation may be denied if the trier-of-fact finds and expresses good cause for doing so. Thus, the risk of harm to an informant may suffice to deny a parolee the right to confrontation. [Citations.] Generally, if the witness is legally unavailable, the former testimony may be admitted. Similarly, where 'appropriate,' witnesses may give evidence by document, affidavit or deposition." (Id. at p. 719; see Gagnon v. Scarpelli, supra, 411 U.S. 782-783, fn. 5 ["we did not in *Morrissey* intend to prohibit use where appropriate of the conventional substitutes for live testimony, including affidavits, depositions, and documentary evidence"], italics added.) Winson observed that "[t]he issue of whether former testimony may be utilized in

lieu of a witness' personal appearance is best resolved on a case-by-case basis." (*People v. Winson, supra*, 29 at p. 719.)⁵

People v. Maki (1985) 39 Cal.3d 707 sought to "clarify the standards for admitting documentary evidence at probation and parole revocation hearings," and concluded that "documentary hearsay evidence which does not fall within an exception to the hearsay rule may be admitted if there are sufficient indicia of reliability regarding the proffered material" (Id. at p. 709.) In arriving at that conclusion, the Court adverted to its observation in *Winson* that the right of confrontation at a revocation hearing is "not absolute and where "appropriate," witnesses may give evidence by document, affidavit or deposition." (Id. at p. 710.) Although this Court found the issue in *Maki* to be "a close one," it ultimately found that the trial court had properly considered two documents that had been seized from defendant's home – an out-of-state car rental invoice and out-of-state hotel receipt – in finding defendant had violated the terms of his probation by leaving the geographical area to which he had been restricted. (*Id.* at p. 716-717.) The "significant factor" according to the Court, was "the uncontroverted presence of defendant's signatures on the invoice." (Id. at p. 716.)

In *People v. Arreola* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1144, this Court reaffirmed its holding in *Winson* "requiring a showing of good cause before a defendant's

⁵ In the case before it, the *Winson* court was persuaded by this combination of circumstances: "the testimony at issue was that of the sole percipient witness to the alleged parole violation, a finding of no legal unavailability was made in the underlying proceedings in which the charges were then dismissed, no additional evidence was introduced which established the witness' unavailability, and the court made no specific finding of good cause for denying the right to confront and cross-examine." (*Ibid.*)

right of confrontation at a probation revocation hearing can be dispensed with by the admission of a preliminary hearing transcript in lieu of live testimony." (*Id.* at p. 1159.) The *Arreola* court explained that the admissibility of the evidence must be made on a case-by-case basis. (*Id.* at pp. 1159-1160.) The standard of "good cause" can be met by showing that the declarant is unavailable under the traditional hearsay standard, the declarant can be brought to the hearing only through great difficulty or expense, or the declarant's presence would pose a risk of harm to the declarant. (*Ibid.*) Moreover, the good cause showing must be considered together with other relevant circumstances, including the purpose for which the evidence is offered, the significance of the evidence to the factual determination upon which the alleged probation violation is based, and whether other admissible evidence corroborated the evidence in question. (*Id.* at p. 1160.)

In *Arreola* itself, the prosecution failed to offer any justification for not securing the declarant's presence at the probation revocation hearing. Accordingly, this Court concluded that, since there was no showing of good cause, the trial court's admission of the preliminary hearing transcript at the probation revocation hearing violated defendant's federal constitutional right to due process. (*People v. Arreola, supra*, 7 Cal.4th at pp. 1160-1161.)

Arreola also explained the rationale for the different treatment of documentary evidence and former testimony as follows: "There is an evident distinction between a transcript of former live testimony and the type of traditional 'documentary' evidence involved in *Maki* that does not have, as its source, live testimony. [Citation.] As we observed in *Winson*, the need for confrontation is particularly important where the evidence is

testimonial, because of the opportunity for observation of the witness's demeanor. [Citation.] Generally, the witness's demeanor is not a significant factor in evaluating foundational testimony relating to the admission of evidence such as laboratory reports, invoices, or receipts, where often the purpose of this testimony simply is to authenticate the documentary material, and where the author, signator, or custodian of the document ordinarily would be unable to recall from actual memory information relating to the specific contents of the writing and would rely instead upon the record of his or her own action." (*People v. Arreola, supra*, 7 Cal.4th at p. 1157, fn. omitted.)

The "lessons of Maki, Winson and Arreola," were applied in People v. Shepherd (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 1193, 1201. There, the prosecution alleged the defendant had violated the terms of his probation by consuming alcohol. (Id. at p. 1196.) At the revocation hearing, the defendant's probation officer testified that he had been informed by a treatment program administrator that the defendant had smelled of, and tested positive for, alcohol consumption. The program administrator did not testify and no other evidence supported the administrator's out-of-court statements that the defendant consumed alcohol in violation of his probation. Further, it was unclear whether the administrator had observed the defendant's alleged probation violation or whether she had simply reported what she had been told by other, unidentified witnesses. (Id. at p. 1198.) In these circumstances, *Shepherd* found that the good cause standard set forth in Arreola and Winson was controlling, rather than the more lenient indicia of reliability standard set forth in Maki, and that it was error to admit the probation officer's hearsay testimony because there had been no showing that the administrator was unavailable or that other good cause existed for

not securing her live testimony at the revocation hearing. (*Id.* at pp. 1201-1203.)

C. HEARSAY EVIDENCE THAT REPLACES THE LIVE TESTIMONY OF A WITNESS IS INADMISSIBLE ABSENT A SHOWING OF THE WITNESS'S UNAVAILABILITY OR OTHER GOOD CAUSE AND A BALANCING OF INTERESTS UNDER *ARREOLA*, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE EVIDENCE FALLS UNDER A FIRMLY ROOTED HEARSAY EXCEPTION SUCH AS THAT FOR EXCITED UTTERANCES.

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