No. S269237

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

DONTRAE GRAY,

Defendant and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. B302236 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. MA065662 The Honorable Renee F. Korn, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Probationers at revocation hearings are not entitled to the full array of constitutional rights available to defendants at criminal trials, including the confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment. This is so because probationers, having been validly convicted of crimes, have already been afforded the full panoply of constitutional trial rights in the criminal proceedings that resulted in their convictions.

As a matter of due process, however, a less stringent confrontation rule applies at revocation hearings. The United States Supreme Court and this Court have described that right as "flexible." Its ultimate purpose is to promote the accuracy and reliability of the factfinding on which revocation decisions are based. In keeping with that flexibility, California courts have permitted the admission of hearsay at revocation hearings that would not have been admissible in a criminal trial, so long as the hearing court finds good cause and balances the People's interest in presenting the hearsay against the probationer's interests in confrontation.

Thus far, this Court has never required a showing of good cause or balancing of interests as prerequisites for admitting outof-court statements that meet an exception to the hearsay rule.

To the contrary, this Court has suggested that so long as a hearsay exception applies, no further inquiry is needed to protect due process.

This Court should hold that evidence meeting the hearsay exception for spontaneous statements under Evidence Code section 1240 is admissible at revocation hearings without a further finding of good cause or balancing of interests. Such statements are not offered as a "substitute for live testimony" but rather as a unique type of evidence, categorically different from and often more trustworthy than—live testimony. Because a spontaneous statement, by definition, is made under the stress of excitement caused by the event it describes, before the declarant has an opportunity to reflect or fabricate, it is an irreplaceable snapshot of a moment in time. The unique value of such evidence gives rise to "good cause" per se for its admission, regardless of the availability of the declarant. This is particularly so given the flexible nature of the due process rule under which confrontation may yield to the interest of reliable factfinding at a revocation hearing.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION AT REVOCATION HEARINGS IS MORE FLEXIBLE THAN THE SIXTH AMENDMENT AND SERVES A DIFFERENT PURPOSE

The confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment, applicable to criminal trials is fundamentally different from the confrontation rule required by the due process clause at revocation hearings. The Sixth Amendment creates a right to

confrontation as an end in itself, not merely as a tool for achieving reliable verdicts. "To be sure, the Clause's ultimate goal is to ensure reliability of evidence, but it is a procedural rather than a substantive guarantee. It commands, not that evidence be reliable, but that reliability be assessed in a particular manner: by testing in the crucible of crossexamination." (Crawford, supra, 541 U.S. at p. 61.) Reliability was once regarded as the touchstone of the confrontation clause. (White v. Illinois (1992) 502 U.S. 346, 356 ["where proffered hearsay has sufficient guarantees of reliability to come within a firmly rooted exception to the hearsay rule, the Confrontation Clause is satisfied"]; *Ohio v. Roberts* (1980) 448 U.S. 56, 65-66 [a "firmly established hearsay exception" conveys sufficient "indicia of reliability" to comport with the confrontation clause].) But that view has now been abandoned with respect to the Sixth Amendment. (See Crawford, supra, at pp. 61-65 [rejecting the reliability-centered approach to the confrontation clause in Roberts].)

In contrast to the Sixth Amendment, trustworthiness of evidence and reliability of factfinding remain the touchstone of the due process confrontation rule. When the United States Supreme Court first set forth the procedures for revocation hearings demanded by due process, it did so for the purpose of serving both the government's and the probationer's interests in accurate fact-finding and the informed use of discretion. (Gagnon, supra, 411 U.S. at p. 785.) Confrontation was merely a tool for achieving the goal of reliability. Thus, the high Court

signaled from the outset that the due process confrontation rule must be "flexible" enough to accommodate conventional types of hearsay evidence that would not be admissible in a criminal trial, and can be dispensed with altogether for "good cause." (Morrissey, supra, 408 U.S. at p. 489, italics added; accord, Gagnon, supra, 411 U.S. at p. 782, fn. 5 ["we did not in Morrissey intend to prohibit use where appropriate of the conventional substitutes for live testimony, including affidavits, depositions, and documentary evidence"]; *Arreola*, supra, 7 Cal.4th at p. 1153.) Moreover, evidence that would be admissible at a criminal trial generally does not violate due process. (See *People v*. Merriman (2014) 60 Cal.4th 1, 64 ["Because the evidence was properly admitted under Evidence Code section 1240, its admission did not deprive defendant of due process."]; *People v. Riccardi* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 758, 809, ["The routine and proper application of state evidentiary law does not impinge on a defendant's due process rights."], abrogated on another ground by People v. Rangel (2016) 62 Cal.4th 1192, 1216.)

Clear reasons exist for this dichotomy between Sixth Amendment trial rights and the less stringent due process rights at revocation hearings. Probationers do not stand in the same shoes as defendants in criminal proceedings. Criminal defendants face the deprivation of their liberty, and are therefore entitled to the full array of trial rights, including not only confrontation but also trial by jury and the reasonable doubt standard. Probationers, in contrast, have already been afforded those rights and have lost their liberty due to presumptively valid

convictions. They remain outside of custody only conditionally, and their probation or parole can be revoked if they violate the terms of their release. (*Morrissey, supra*, 408 U.S. at p. 480 ["Revocation deprives an individual, not of the absolute liberty to which every citizen is entitled, but only of the conditional liberty properly dependent on observance of special parole restrictions."]; *Jones, supra*, 299 F.3d at p. 109 ["The Supreme Court does not, however, attach to revocation proceedings the full range of procedural safeguards associated with a criminal trial because a probationer already stands convicted of a crime," internal quotations omitted].)

In sum, confrontation rights at revocation hearings must be more flexible than at criminal trials and should yield particularly to permit the admission of highly trustworthy forms of evidence that would promote the reliability of factfinding.

II. SPONTANEOUS STATEMENTS ARE A UNIQUE AND DISTINCTLY RELIABLE TYPE OF EVIDENCE, WHICH SATISFIES DUE PROCESS AT REVOCATION HEARINGS WITHOUT THE NEED FOR FURTHER INQUIRY

As the United States Supreme Court noted, spontaneous statements are especially reliable because they "are made in contexts that provide substantial guarantees of their trustworthiness." (White, supra, 502 U.S. at p. 355 [permitting spontaneous statements in criminal trials under a pre-Crawford confrontation clause analysis, without a showing of the declarant's unavailability].)⁷ "A statement that has been offered

⁷ The Illinois spontaneous statement exception addressed in *White* applies to "[a] statement relating to a startling event or (continued...)

in a moment of excitement—without the opportunity to reflect on the consequences of one's exclamation—may justifiably carry more weight with a trier of fact than a similar statement offered in the relative calm of the courtroom." (*Id.* at p. 356.)

A spontaneous statement that meets the requirements of Evidence Code section 1240 "is considered trustworthy . . . despite its hearsay character, because in the stress of nervous excitement, the reflective faculties may be stilled and the utterance may become the instinctive and uninhibited expression of the speaker's actual impressions and belief." (Merriman, supra, 60 Cal.4th at p. 64, citations and internal quotation marks omitted; accord, People v. Clark (2011) 52 Cal.4th 856, 925; People v. Farmer (1989) 47 Cal.3d 888, 903-904, disapproved on other grounds by People v. Waidla (2000) 22 Cal.4th 690, 724, fn. 6.)

But the heightened reliability of spontaneous statements is not the only rationale for exempting such evidence from the hearsay rule. Another key reason for their admissibility is that they are wholly different in kind from live testimony. They are not merely satisfactory "substitutes" for live testimony, but are a distinct form of evidence that benefits factfinders in a way that

^{(...}continued)

condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." (*White, supra,* 502 U.S. at p. 350, fn. 1, citing *People v. White* (1990) 198 Ill.App.3d 641, 648 [555 N.E.2d 1241, 1246].) It is therefore essentially the same as California's exception. (Evid. Code, § 1240; *Poggi, supra,* 45 Cal.3d at p. 318.)

live testimony cannot. Spontaneous statements provide a rare snapshot of a past moment in time, when the event described is fresh and raw and the declarant has had neither the time nor the mental composure to reflect, fabricate, or forget. In effect, live testimony is an inadequate substitute for spontaneous statements, rather than the converse, because they are qualitatively different. (See *White*, *supra*, at pp. 355-356 ["But those same factors that contribute to the statements' reliability cannot be recaptured even by later in-court testimony."].)

Because of the distinct qualities of spontaneous statements, their admission at revocation hearings is consistent with the *Morrissey* confrontation rule in two alternative ways: via the "good cause" exception, or via the flexibility of due process recognized by the high court. (*Morrissey*, *supra*, 408 U.S. at p. 489.)

First, spontaneous statements inherently meet the "good cause" exception to the confrontation requirement. (See *Morrissey*, *supra*, 408 U.S. at p. 489 [confrontation rule applies to revocation hearings "unless the hearing officer specifically finds good cause for not allowing confrontation"].) As our courts have explained, "a necessity or expediency arises for resorting to" evidence of spontaneous statements, because "we cannot expect, again, or at this time, to get *evidence of the same value* from the same or other sources," including the declarant's own potential testimony on the witness stand. (*Stanphill*, *supra*, 170 Cal.App.4th at p. 81, quoting 5 Wigmore, Evidence (Chadbourn ed.1974) § 1421, p. 253, italics in original; *Hughey*, *supra*, 194

Cal.App.3d at pp. 1392-1393.) In other words, the unique benefit of spontaneous statements, which cannot be obtained from live trial testimony, constitutes "good cause" for their admission.

Accordingly, "good cause" for *Morrissey* purposes should not be limited to the unavailability of the declarant, or its practical equivalent. In a different context—the admission of a transcript of prior testimony—this Court held that the "broad standard" of "good cause" is met when the declarant is legally unavailable or cannot be brought to the hearing without great difficulty, expense, or risk of harm to the declarant. (Arreola, supra, 7 Cal.4th at p. 1160.) But *Arreola* did not purport to limit or define "good cause" under *Morrissey* for all contexts.⁸ It would make little sense to require the declarant's unavailability in the context of spontaneous statements, as, unlike prior testimony or other forms of hearsay, they are not offered as "substitutes for live testimony" and their value as evidence has nothing to do with the availability of the declarant to testify. Neither would it make sense to require good cause to be established case-by-case for each particular spontaneous statement in addition to demonstrating that the statement meets the requirements of Evidence Code section 1240. The latter already amounts to a

⁸ The precise issue addressed by *Arreola* was whether the People complied with "good cause" by notifying the defense in advance that the preliminary hearing testimony would be offered at the probation revocation hearing, giving the defense the same motivation to cross-examine the witness. (*Arreola*, *supra*, 7 Cal.4th at p. 1148, 1156.) This Court held that this did not amount to good cause. (*Id.* at pp. 1156, 1159-1161.)

particularized finding of the statement's unique evidentiary quality, the good cause for its admission. An additional "good cause" determination would be superfluous.

Second, the admissibility of spontaneous statements is consistent with the "flexible" property of due process at revocation hearings recognized by *Morrissey*. As the high court has explained, "[T]he process should be flexible enough to consider evidence including letters, affidavits, and other material that would *not be admissible* in an adversary criminal trial" (Morrissey, supra, 408 U.S. at p. 489, italics added) and should accommodate "the conventional substitutes for live testimony, including affidavits, depositions, and documentary evidence," as well as "other creative solutions to the practical difficulties of the Morrissey requirements" that the states may develop (Gagnon, supra, 411 U.S. at p. 782, fn. 5). If the due process confrontation rule can be flexible enough to permit evidence that would be inadmissible at trial, all the more so must it accommodate evidence that would be fully admissible at trial under the spontaneous statements hearsay exception.

Appellant Gray argues that the reliability of spontaneous statements has been exaggerated by "the folk psychology of evidence," and he refers to studies showing that lies can be fabricated quickly even under stress. (OBM 22-23.) But respondent does not claim that spontaneous statements are always, infallibly *more* accurate or reliable than live testimony, but rather that they are qualitatively *different* from live testimony—not a mere substitute therefor. The ability to cross-

examine a witness and observe the witness's demeanor in court are highly valuable, but spontaneous statements provide a different value that live testimony and confrontation simply cannot match—the declarant's raw, unscripted, and unfiltered impressions at or close to the time of the event, given without reflection. That qualitative difference between spontaneous statements and live testimony supplies the good cause for admitting the latter under the flexible standards of due process at a revocation hearing.

III. THE FLEXIBILITY OF THE DUE PROCESS CONFRONTATION RULE IS NOT LIMITED TO DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE

Gray attempts to draw a distinction between "documentary" and "non-documentary" hearsay, arguing that "the dictum in *Maki* is specifically limited to 'documentary' evidence, and the case does not suggest that due process would be satisfied by allowing otherwise admissible non-documentary evidence to be admitted without first making a finding of good cause and determining whether a balancing of the relevant factors favored admission." (OBM 24.) Gray further claims that *Arreola* drew such a distinction when it distinguished *Maki*.

To the contrary, nothing in *Maki* suggests that the admissibility of evidence meeting a "pertinent hearsay exception" is limited to documents, nor did *Arreola* place such a limitation on *Maki*. Rather, the key distinction made by *Arreola* was not between hearsay that is written on paper and hearsay relayed

orally by a secondhand witness in court,⁹ but rather between documentary evidence and hearsay offered as the functional equivalent of live testimony—most specifically, a transcript of prior testimony. *Arreola* did not suggest any distinction between "documentary evidence" and the type of evidence at issue here—hearsay that, like documentary evidence, has value independent of any live testimony the declarant might give.

Distinguishing *Maki*, *Arreola* explained:

There is an evident distinction between a transcript of former live testimony and the type of traditional "documentary" evidence involved in *Maki* that does not have, as its source, live testimony. [Citation.] As we observed in *Winson*, the need for confrontation is particularly important where the evidence is testimonial, because of the opportunity for observation of the witness's demeanor. [Citation.]

(Arreola, supra, at p. 1157.)

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